1973

Luke Phillips And Ruby Phillips v. Tooele City Corporation : Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellants brought this action for damages against the respondent for the amount of \$2,413.91 predicated upon the respondent's agents negligence in a collision, occurring in Tooele City, State of Utah, on December 18, 1970.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

This matter was tried to a jury on September 1971, and judgment of non-suit was entered.

upon the respondent's motion to dismiss after appellants had rested their case in chief. The Court Judge Gordon P. Hall having directed a judgment in favor of the respondent on the grounds of contributory negligence.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants request this court to set aside this judgment of non-suit.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Phyllis Utahna Perkins was driving the appellants Ford, Maverick west on Utah Avenue in the proximity of its intersection with 5th Street December 18, 1970 (T-4). The road was completely covered with snow (T36-L28) and as driver approached 5th Street she observed respondents garbage Truck (T-4 L-23) stopped to the north of the curb line facing south. Mrs. Perkins proceeded westerly believing that the garbage truck had yielded the right-of-way and when she was over

half way through the intersection in the north-west quarter of the intersection, respondents agent, driver of the garbage truck having failed to look to the left before entering the intersection (T-38) and drove the garbage truck into the right front quarter of the appellants vehicle. The point of impact being approximately 24 inches behind the right front headlight (T-24). The accident occurring in the north-west quarter corner of the intersection (T-17). The force of the garbage truck colliding with appellants vehicle pushed appellants vehicle into the south-west quarter corner of the intersection (T-17). The impact causing damages to the appellants vehicle in the amount of \$ 2,413.91 which included front fender, grill, headlight, bent hood, upper railing of the front sub-frame, connecting brace on the fire wall, a cross to the sub-frame, shock tower, superficial skin damage, tires, (T-25). Substantially causing a total loss damage to appellants vehicle

which was seven months old at the time
respondent broadsided appellants vehicle.

There was no damage sustained by the
respondent.

Mrs. Perkins is appellant's Ruby Phillips
daughter and was age 16 at the time of the
collision and was married at the time appellant
Ruby Phillips had signed the drivers license
application (T-13). Appellants Luke Phillips
had purchased the Maverick on May 27, 1970.
He was not the father of Mrs. Perkins (T-42)
he had not signed the drivers license applica-
tion (T-13) and had not given Mrs. Perkins
permission to drive the vehicle. (T-43).

ARGUMENT

Point 1

THE SUPREME COURT, IN REVIEWING THE
JUDGMENT IN THIS CASE, MUST VIEW THE
EVIDENCE IN A LIGHT MOST FAVORABLE TO
THE APPELLANT.

Point 1

In cases such as the instant appeal wherein the trial Judge entered judgment of non-suit upon the close of the Plaintiff's case, the courts have uniformly held that in reviewing a judgment of non-suit the evidence must be viewed and reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in a light most favorable to the plaintiff. Raymond Union Pac. Railroad Co., 113, U. 26, 191 P. 2d 87 (1948); Knox v. Snow, 119 U. 522, 229 P 2d 74 (1951).

In Martin v. Stevens, 121 Utah 484, 243 P. 747, (1952) the Court stated:

In appraising the dismissal which was granted against plaintiff, he is entitled to have us review all of the evidence, together with every logical inference which may fairly be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to him.

Following this established principal, the Utah court in Malstorm v. Olsen, 16 Utah 2d 316, 400 P. 2d 209, (1965) said:

We reverse non-suit judgments if there is a reasonable basis in the evidence and the inferences therefrom when considered in a

light most favorable to the losing party (plaintiff) for a judgment in her favor.

We submit in view of the foregoing, that this Court must view the evidence in this appeal in a light most favorable to the Plaintiffs and must engage in all inferences which may be drawn from the evidence in favor of the Plaintiffs and must engage in all inferences which may be drawn from the evidence in favor of the plaintiffs.

POINT 11

THE TRIAL JUDGE MISINTERPRETED THE TESTIMONY OF DRIVER OF APPELLANT'S VEHICLE.

Announcing the decision of Defendant's

Motion to Dismiss, Judge Hall stated:

"The Court cannot disregard the direct testimony of Mrs. Perkins which indicates that she did observe the truck some two hundred to two hundred fifty feet away, that's the note that I had. And then did not see the vehicle again until the collision, which in the Court's view would deem her to be guilty of contributory negligence."

No where in the direct testimony of Mrs.

Perkins did the witness ever state that she

observed the truck some two hundred to two hundred and fifty feet away. The Testimony of the witness revealed the following facts as to her viewing the garbage truck. When asked what she observed the witness answered:

A. (T 4-L 22) On Utah Avenue, and I seen the garbage truck, but I seen that it was stopped.

Q. Where did you see the garbage truck?

A. On 5th Street

Q. And on which side of the street?

A. The right.

On cross examination the witness stated:

(T-15 L-3) I see the truck. I seen it back further, but I seen that it was stopped and I was going slow enough. I proceeded to go through and after I got past where he was, he came out and...

Q. How far back would you say you were when you saw the truck.... how far back from the east side of this intersection (L 9-10)

A. (T-15 L-15) About a half a block.

On redirect, the witness was asked: (T-20

L-11).

Do you know how long those blocks are?

I don't know how long they are.

You know how many houses would be on a block?

Four

Only four houses to each block?

Yes

Then it's your testimony then that when you first saw the truck you were about two houses back from the corner.

Yes

Testimony which the Trial Judge relied upon was not the direct testimony of the witness, Mrs. Perkins, but was from the testimony of Howard E. Cooper, on cross examination by the Defendants Counsel, (T-36-L-13) I asked her how far back she was. She indicated a point back in the road, which I estimated, around two hundred to two hundred fifty feet.

Thus, the Courts opinion was based upon the estimate of the witness and not upon the drivers testimony. Judge Hall also erred in concluding that the witness's testimony was that she "did not see the vehicle again until the collision."

Examination of the Transcript of the cross examination of this witness indicates that the conclusion of the Trial Judge was taken from the

direct question of the Respondent's Attorney,
which was a compound question as follows:

Q. O.K. About a half a block, and your prior testimony was i think, if I recall it correctly, was that you saw the truck in that position and that you then continued on and you didn't see it again, or didn't - wasn't aware of it until it was out in the street in front of you, is that correct?
(T-15)

Obviously the witness could not have answered accurately the question propounded, and parts of the answer were clarified by the following:

(T-16 L-2)

Q. O.K. and then you just continued on. The next time you observed it, when it was in front of you, when it collided?

A. When it was at the side of me.

The Driver further testified on Cross Examination (T-18 L-14)

Q. Well, did you see it, and what it did?

A. I seen it come out and hit me, but it just come all of a sudden.

This testimony is substantiated by the Witness, Doyle Roy Rolley, a passenger in the

passenger vehicle, who reported his observations
follows:

"Oh, well, we was just going down that
one road and then we were almost in the
middle of the intersection and the
garbage truck came out of the side and
I shut my eyes that's all. (T-41 L-2)

Concluding that the driver of the Plaintiff's
vehicle did not see the garbage truck again until
the collision, the Court erred in his decision
that the driver was guilty of contributory
negligence as a matter of law.

Justice Crockett, in analyzing the observations
necessary in approaching an intersection in the
opinion of Martin v. Stevens, 121 Utah 484, 496,
43 P. 2d 747, (1952), stated:

We must remember that there were three
other streets to give some attention to
as he approached the intersection. All
of the attention could not very well or
safely be focused on any one at any
given instant.

In this case, the driver of the Plaintiff's
vehicle observed the Defendant's garbage truck
stopped north of the Intersection, at a point
which is North of a dip or extension of the
utter across the road way running parallel

to the Avenue upon which the plaintiff's vehicle
was travelling. Having observed the truck
stopped, it became the duty of the driver of
plaintiff's automobile to divide her attention
to the possible traffic from the left and
straight ahead.

The question of observation of the driver
of the plaintiff's vehicle, having observed the
truck stopped, and presumed that the defendant's
truck had yielded at the entry into the larger
avenue from the intersecting street, was necessarily
based also upon the snow covered, slick surface
of the roadway of Utah Avenue.

The Court, in the above cited case of Martin
Stevens, in asserting that such evidence should
be weighed by the Jury also called attention to
the question of proximate cause as a Jury question.

Should we assume that all reasonable men
must conclude that plaintiff's failure to
keep more of a lookout to the east amounted
to negligence, would they also all agree
that such failure to observe proximately
caused the collision?

Apparently the Trial Judge heard certain evidence, which he believed to have been from the direct testimony of the plaintiff's witness, eight men were impannelled to hear the facts in this matter, and among these Jurors, a misinterpretation of the testimony could have been clarified by discussion. That the function of the Jury is to be the trier of the facts, is not disputed, and Appellants having established prima facia case of negligence against the driver of the Defendant's vehicle, and no evidence having been disputed that the Driver of garbage truck was the servant of the defendant, and that he was at the time and place of said accident, acting within the scope of his employment, said negligence of the employee was imputed to the employer, Tooele City Corporation, and the Appellants were entitled to have the burden of proving contributory negligence rest upon the Defendant, and then submitted to the Jury for deliberation.

POINT III

CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE IS AN ISSUE TO
DETERMINED BY THE JURY AS THE TRIER OF

...ing opinion of the Supreme Court of the
... of Utah as to the issue of contributory
... negligence is set forth in Hughes v. Hooper, 19
... 2d 389, 431 P. 2d 983 (1967) an action which
... ved an open intersection collision. The
... t therein stated:

The rights and duties of drivers approaching
intersections are questions dealing with
the standard of conduct to be expected of
a reasonably prudent man and are peculiarly
a matter for the jury. Contributory negli-
gence is therefore primarily to be resolved
by the trier of the facts since it involves
these same rights and duties. It is not to
be treated as one of law unless the facts
and inferences from them are free from doubt.
If there is doubt, the issue is for the jury.

Smith v. Thornton, 23 Utah 2d 110, 458 P. 2d 870,

(9) the Court reversed a directed verdict in
... of the defendants entered upon the ground
... "the plaintiff was guilty of contributory
... negligence as a matter of law."

Court therein stated:

The defendant has the burden of proving that
the plaintiff . . . was negligent and that
his negligence was the proximate cause of
his injuries. Both of these issues must be
proven by a preponderance of the evidence.

Consequently, if there is any reasonable basis in the evidence, or from lack of evidence, upon which jurors could reasonably remain unconvinced on either issue, the court is not justified in taking the case from the jury.

In the instant matter, the Court entered the following findings of fact #4.

As the driver of Plaintiff's vehicle was approaching the intersection of 5th street and Utah Avenue, approximately 200 to 250 feet or one half block from said intersection, said driver observed the Defendant's garbage truck stopped at the north edge of said intersection with the left side of said vehicle near the center of 5th street, and that said driver did not observe said truck thereafter until just as it pulled out into the intersection in front of her and that she had no opportunity to apply her brakes prior to said collision and that there were no other vehicles on the roadway nor any other obstructions of her vision of said truck from the time she first saw it until the collision.

According to the findings above quoted, the jury could reasonably find that Defendant's driver had yielded his right to the right of way by stopping at the entrance to the open intersection, and having yielded his right had no right to enter the intersection from a stopped position without ascertaining whether traffic was approaching from the drivers' side, and that the acts of the defendant's driver were the sole proximate cause of the collision.

The above findings of fact were erroneous, such as the evidence offered by all of the witnesses, including the investigating officer, only showed that the Defendant's vehicle struck the side of the car owned by Plaintiff; and that the point of impact was to the rear of the right wheel of the Plaintiff's vehicle, and therefore the finding that driver of Plaintiff's automobile did not see the truck "until just as it rolled out into the intersection in front of her" is not in compliance with any evidence, including photographic evidence offered in the Plaintiff's

In Hindmarsh V.O.P. Skaggs Foodliner, 21 Utah 2d 446 P. 2d 410, () the court said:

The burden of proving contributory negligence is upon the defendant. The trial court could properly take the issue from the jury and rule that the Plaintiff was contributorily negligent as a matter of law only if the evidence demonstrated that fact with sufficient certainty that all reasonable minds would so find. Conversely, if the evidence is such as to permit reasonable minds to differ as to whether the plaintiff was guilty of contributory negligence, the question is for the jury to decide.

Under a fact situation similar to the instant one, the Court in Williams v. Zions Cooperative

antile Institution, 6 Utah 2d 283, 312 P.
1957, (1957) stated that the "plaintiff was
way through the intersection she was struck
defendant's truck. The front end of defendant's
struck the car driven by plaintiff on the
door and near the car's center . . . on
facts the court held plaintiff contributorily
negligent as a matter of law."

reversing the decision of the lower Court and
the Court stated:

A fact question was presented as to whether
defendant entered the intersection when plaintiff
was therein, or if defendant entered the intersec-
tion when plaintiff was approaching so closely on
the highway as to constitute an immediate
danger. The further fact question was presented as
to whether defendant had entered the intersection
under such circumstances as to impose on plaintiff
a duty to yielding the right of way.

Those are proper jury questions and should
have been submitted.

In the instant matter, the questions which
should properly have been submitted to the jury were:

1. If the defendant's driver had the right
of way pursuant to Utah Code Anno. (1953) 41-6-72(b)
did the defendant's driver waive the favored position
of the driver approaching an intersection from the
left, when the said driver was stopped at the inter-
section?
2. Was the proximate cause of the accident
the failure of the Defendant's driver to look to

the left before entering the intersection
er having been stopped at the entrance thereto.

3. At what point did Plaintiff's driver
ually observe the defendants truck stopped?
re being two discriptions of the distance,
being 200 to 250 feet testified to by the
icer, the other being in the middle of the block
ch block consisted of only four residential
lding lots, placing the driver of Plaintiff's
omobile approximately 150 feet east of the
ersection.

4. Does the driver of an automobile have
duty to continue to observe the actions of a
ver who has apparently yielded the right of
, or must the attention of the driver then focus
the left before entering the intersection to
ertain whether traffic is approaching from
at direction?

5. Does Utah Avenue, being a wider avenue,
10 feet in width, than the intersecting street
5th Street, and the construction of the respec-
ve roads, Utah Avenue being constructed without

dips or gutters crossing the payment from street to Broadway; 5th street having a dip gutter area crossing the payment necessitating traffic approaching Utah Avenue from the North, slow before entering the larger Avenue, transfer right of way to the traveler on the through street, even in the absence of regulatory devices commonly used: ie, signs or semaphores?

Utah Code Anno. (1953) 41-6-74, provides:
(a) The driver of a vehicle shall stop as required by this act at the entrance to a through highway and shall yield the right of way to other vehicles which have entered the intersection from said through highway or which are approaching so closely on said highway as to constitute an immediate hazard. . .

(b) The driver of a vehicle shall likewise stop in obedience to a stop sign as required herein at an intersection where a stop sign is erected. . .

A clear reading of the Act indicates that legislative intent is to provide for through highway traffic without each intersection being marked with a stop sign or other regulatory devices.

The use of dips or of "bumps" across the pavement of roads being effectively employed for the purpose of curtailing the movement of traffic in lieu of signs.

6. Was the Plaintiff's vehicle actually within the intersection at the time the Defendant's vehicle approached and entered the intersection.

In Bates v. Burns, 3 Utah 2d 180, 281 P. 2d 209 (1955) the Court stated.

Plaintiff not only entered the intersection first, he had nearly passed over it before the defendant entered. Plaintiff was the disfavored driver until he had entered the intersection at a time when no car traveling the through highway had entered the intersection or was approaching so closely on said through highway as to constitute an immediate hazard. But having entered as authorized, he became the favored driver and all other vehicles approaching the intersection on said through highway were obliged to yield the right of way to him.

In the above cited case the driver of a pickup truck was not held contributorily negligent where the facts showed that the disfavored driver entering the intersection from the left of the defendant's truck, did not observe the defendant's truck again until immediately before the defendant's truck collided with the side of Plaintiff's vehicle.

Under the holdings of the Supreme Court of the State of Utah, the issue of Contributory negligence was certainly an issue for the jury.

As stated in Martin v. Stevens, 121 Utah 484, P2nd 747, (1952) 489.

The question of contributory negligence is usually for the jury and the court should be reluctant to take consideration of this question of fact from it. Nielson v. Mauchley, 115 Utah 68, 202 P. 2d 547, Toomer's Estate v. Union Pacific Railroad Co. 121 Utah 37, 37, 239 P. 2d 163. The expressions in those cases are in accord with this uniformly accepted doctrine. The right to trial by jury should be safeguarded. Before the issue of contributory negligence may be taken from the jury, the defendants' burden of proving both (a) that plaintiff was guilty of contributory negligence proximately contributed to cause his own injury, must be met, and established with such certainty that reasonable minds could not find to the contrary, conversely, if there is any reasonable basis, either because of lack of evidence, or from the evidence and the fair inferences arising therefrom, taken in the light most favorable to plaintiff, upon which reasonable minds may conclude that they are not convinced by a preponderance of the evidence either (a) or (b) that such negligence proximately contributed to cause the injury, the plaintiff

entitled to have the question submitted to
ary.

POINT IV

OWNER OF A VEHICLE WHICH IS DAMAGED BY THE
CURRING ACTS OF TWO NEGLIGENT DRIVERS, MAY
OVER HIS DAMAGES FROM EITHER OR BOTH SUCH
LIGENT PERSONS.

In Caperon v. Tuttle, 100 Utah 476, 116 P.
402 (1941) the Court stated:

The cases are numerous which had that if
uries result from a collision, the proximate
ses of which are the concurring, negligent acts
the driver and a 3rd person, recovery may be
d against either or both of such negligent
sons. (citations omitted)

The holding of the Court above was also
lied in the case of Dawson v. Board of Educa-
on of Weber County, State of Utah, 222 P. 2nd
, (), wherein the Court said:

Having a single cause of action against more
n one tort feasor, an injured party may proceed
nst the wrong doers either jointly or severally
he may recover judgment or judgments against
or all, but he can have put one satisfaction
the cause of action. . .

This rule was applied as the law of Utah in
10th Circuit, Court, United States v. First
urity Bank, 208 F 2d 424, (1953):

The negligence of one person cannot be justified by the concurring negligence of another. Where several causes producing an injury are concurrent, and each is an efficient proximate cause, without which the injury would not have occurred, the injury may be attributed to all or any of the causes... If the acts constituted negligence both Vernon and Mardis were responsible, and the plaintiffs could proceed against one or both of them. McKenna v. Scott 10 Cir., 202 F 2d 23, McClave v. Moulton 10 Cir., 123 F 2d 450. This is the rule in Utah.

The rule has been long established in this jurisdiction, in Jackson v. Utah Transit Company, Utah 21, 290 P. 970 (1930) the Court found that was immaterial, so far as the Plaintiff was concerned if the driver of the Plaintiffs automobile was negligent in any act of driving, the negligence of the driver could not prevent plaintiff from recovering from the defendant.

Relative to the above issues is the question:

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