1972

Luke Phillips And Ruby Phillips v. Tooele City Corporation : Respondent's Brief

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY HELD AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT PHYLLIS UTAHNA PERKINS WAS NEGLIGENT AS A MATTER OF LAW.

Respondent answers Appellants' Points I, II, and III in Respondent's Point I herein.

Appellants' case left no doubt as to the negligence of the driver of the Appellants' vehicle. Phyllis Perkins testified that she was a half a block away from the intersection when she saw the dump truck and did not then again observe it nor was she aware of it until just prior to impact. In the Appellants' case-in-chief the investigating officer, Howard Cooper, testified that Phyllis Perkins at the scene of the accident pointed out to him her location when she first saw the dump truck, which he estimated at that time was two hundred to two hundred fifty feet from the intersection. Appellants offered no other evidence that would contradict or in any way refute that testimony. Using the minimum figure of two hundred feet and her testified speed of fifteen miles an hour, we can roughly compute that it took her approximately eight seconds to traverse the distance from when she first saw the dump truck to the point of collision. This computation being based on the testimony of the police officer that a vehicle travels at a ratio of one and one-half times in feet its given speed per second. (T. 37) Thus, by Phyllis' own testimony there was a time span

of approximately eight seconds and at least two hundred feet in which she paid absolutely no attention to a vehicle which she had observed to her right. The roads were slick and Phyllis made no attempt to slow down or prepare for any contingency prior to the impact. Under these circumstances there clearly is no issue for the jury as to her negligence as all reasonable minds would agree that such conduct constitutes negligence, which was a proximate cause of the collision.

This Court on prior occasions has made it clear that a person approaching an intersection cannot proceed into an intersection without keeping a lookout as to hazards contained therein or about, and that under certain circumstances such failure to keep a proper lookout is negligence as a matter of law. A case directly in point is *Hickok vs. Skinner*, 113 Utah 1, 190 P.2d 514 (1948). The Trial Court entered judgment of non-suit against the Plaintiff which was affirmed by the Supreme Court. The Plaintiff Hickok stopped at a stop sign at the intersection of 21st South and West Temple. Before he entered the intersection he looked to the east and saw an automobile about a half a block away, approximately five hundred feet. He also claimed that there was other traffic which required his attention. However, the Court on appeal noted that this traffic was such that he was not confronted with a rapidly moving traffic situation. The Plaintiff entered the intersection figuring he had time to make a safe crossing without ever looking back to the east at the car he had previously seen. He did not again see that vehicle until the same collided in the middle of

his vehicle. Plaintiff made no effort to avoid the collision. The evidence was that it would have taken the Defendant's vehicle approximately six seconds to reach the point of collision from where Plaintiff first observed him, and thus that during that period of time that the Plaintiff failed to re-observe what said vehicle was doing. The Court observed that even though Plaintiff had the right of way over Defendant, he could not ignore the Defendant's vehicle even though when he began to move into the intersection he reasonably believed he had time to get across. The Court observed that the time element was such that a reasonably prudent and careful person would have glanced to the east several times while traversing the distance from the stop sign to the point of collision, and that because of his slow speed Plaintiff could have easily come to a stop in time to avoid the collision. The Court then held that the Plaintiff was neglectful in regards to heeding and maintaining a proper lookout and that no jury could reasonably find that he was not negligent.

All of the factors set forth in the *Hickok* case are present in the case at bar. Phyllis Perkins had no other traffic to contend with, she had adequate time and opportunity to observe the actions of the truck, but by her own admission did not observe the vehicle again until just prior to impact. It is interesting to note that she testifies the truck was going ten miles an hour at impact and obviously had traveled at least twenty feet into the intersection prior to her observation just before impact. Phyllis also denies having applied her brakes prior to impact.

Thus one can only speculate as to where she was looking and to what her attention was directed, if any, as she obviously was not paying attention to the only vehicle in the vicinity.

Another identical case is that of *Conkling vs. Walsh*, 113 Utah 276, 193 P.2d 437 (Utah 1948). In this case the Court directed a verdict in favor of the Plaintiff, Mr. Conkling, finding that the drivers of both cars were negligent as a matter of law but that the negligence of the Plaintiff's driver was not imputed to the Plaintiff. The Plaintiff's driver stopped at the intersection for a stop sign. She looked both ways, saw no traffic coming and proceeded into the intersection without ever looking to her right or left again until the collision occurred. The Defendant testified as he approached the intersection he saw the Plaintiff's vehicle approaching the stop sign. The Defendant at that time was a quarter of a block west of the intersection. He looked to his right and did not look back to the north to observe the position of the Plaintiff's driver until he was in the middle of the intersection and the Plaintiff's driver was almost in front of him. The Defendant argued that he could reasonably rely that the Plaintiff's vehicle would stop and remain stopped at the stop sign. The Court, however, pointed out that the Defendant knew there was a car approaching but never looked again in that direction until it was too late to avoid a collision, and that even though he had the technical right of way, he had a duty to remain reasonably alert to the possibility of a disfavored driver starting across the intersection. The Court held that the driver of

the Plaintiff's vehicle and the Defendant's vehicle were negligent as a matter of law.

And likewise in the case of *Richards vs. Anderson*, 9 Utah 2d 17, 337 P.2d 59 (1959), the Trial Court granted a Summary Judgment against the Plaintiff finding him negligent as a matter of law. There the Defendant had stopped for a stop sign, waited for several cars and then entered into the intersection at five to ten miles per hour. The Plaintiff was approaching the intersection at fifteen to twenty miles per hour. The Plaintiff stated that he failed to see the Defendant until just before the collision and too late to avoid it. He attempted to excuse that neglect on the grounds that he had the right of way. The Court found that from the physical facts the Plaintiff had an adequate opportunity to observe the Defendant but failed to do so. The Court found him negligent as a matter of law, and in doing so held on page 61:

“While it was necessary for Plaintiff to be watching his own lane ahead, his vision was not like looking through a pipe or a tunnel. His angle of vision would take in the moving objects in the adjacent lane, particularly a moving object such as Defendant's car, had he been looking.

“It is a well settled rule that one may not be heard to say that he did not see what was plain to be seen. He either failed to look or saw and failed to heed, either of which makes him negligent. . . . The Plaintiff seems to have been guilty of the all too common fault of modern driving of assuming that because they are on a through highway they have the absolute right of way and than one desiring to enter or cross it must do so at his peril.

The evidence amply justified the Trial Court in determining that he was precluded from recovery because of his own negligence.”

In the present case it is not even established that Phyllis Perkins had the right of way nor that she was on a through highway but even assuming she had the right of way, under the facts and the law cited she is negligent and her negligence proximately contributed to the collision.

The cases cited by the Appellants in their Brief under Points II and III are cited out of context and are not in point inasmuch as they do not concern fact situations where one or both drivers knew of another vehicle's proximity to the intersection and failed to keep a lookout in regard to the same after having ample opportunity to make such an observation considering the speed, distance and traffic conditions. Appellants' assertion that Phyllis should not have reasonably seen the truck prior to impact is untenable under the present facts. She had ample opportunity to avoid the collision had she made any effort to observe what there was to be seen.

Equally untenable is the assertion by Appellants that Respondent's driver had waived his right of way and that somehow this gave Phyllis the right to go headlong into the intersection without exercising due care. The law as cited in the above cases makes it clear that Phyllis Perkins could not assume a right of way, whether by waiver or otherwise, and proceed without keeping a reasonable lookout. It should be noted that Appellants in their Brief argue that Phyllis was only one hundred fifty

feet away from the intersection when she first saw the truck, this being based upon the fact that she stated that there were only four houses on the block and that she saw the truck between the second and third house. Appellants' Counsel then makes the unwarranted assumption that there were only four building lots on the block and that somehow means Phyllis was one hundred fifty feet from the intersection. There was no evidence to support this assumption. The only evidence presented by the Appellants was "half a block," and "two hundred to two hundred fifty feet." They are now bound by that evidence.

Respondent respectfully submits, therefore, that the evidence established as a matter of law negligence on the part of Phyllis Utahna Perkins which negligence proximately contributed to the collision.

POINT II.

THE NEGLIGENCE OF PHYLLIS UTAHNA PERKINS IS IMPUTED TO BOTH APPELLANTS.

Respondent answers herein in its Point II Appellants' Points IV and V.

The case law presented in Point IV of Appellants' Brief is immaterial. Respondent agrees that a non-driving owner may generally recover from either joint tort feorsors; however, that is not the issue in the present case. Here the Appellants are joint owners of the subject automobile and the driver is a minor under the age of

eighteen (18) years, whose negligence, if any, is imputed to the owners by law. Thus the citation by Appellants on page 23 of *Conkling vs. Walsh*, 113 Utah 276, 193 P.2d 437 (1948) which concerned a non-driving sole owner is not in point for that aspect. Likewise the citation of *Lavendar vs. Fox*, and other cases on page 24 are not in point since the agency sought to be created in *Lavender* is established by statute in the present case, to-wit: U.C.A. 41-2-10 and 41-2-22. In regard to those statutes the Appellants attempt to set up a straw man by referring only to Section 41-2-10 which creates liability for the signor of an application for a drivers license of a minor, under the age of eighteen (18), arguing that such imputation does not go to the Appellant, Luke Phillips. The Trial Court, however, based its decision herein primarily on Section 41-2-22 which states as follows:

“41-2-22. Owner liable for negligence of minor.— Every owner of a motor vehicle causing or knowingly permitting a minor under the age of eighteen years to drive such vehicle upon a highway, and any person who gives or furnishes a motor vehicle to such minor, shall be jointly and severally liable with such minor for any damages caused by the negligence of such minor in driving such vehicle.”

Appellants direct no argument or comment at all to this statute and its effect. The obvious effect of the statute is to create as a matter of law civil responsibility upon the owner of a vehicle allowing a minor's use thereof. Where such facts exist, it is not necessary to determine an agency since such is created by law on the owners.

The facts before the Trial Court were undisputed as to joint ownership. The car was registered in the names of both Appellants, it was being purchased from earnings from the "Club 13" a family business and enterprise being run jointly by the Appellants with said vehicle being used by both Appellants for the general benefit of their household. There was no contrary evidence as to the joint ownership of said vehicle. The facts were also undisputed that Ruby Phillips, acting as a joint owner and for purposes within the scope of said joint ownership, to-wit: use of a vehicle for the benefit of the residents of the Appellants' household, permitted Phyllis Uthana Perkins to drive said vehicle at the time and place at issue and, therefore, Appellants come within the imputation of responsibility of Section 41-2-22.

Appellants assert in their Point IV that Section 41-2-10 does not impute contributory negligence but is limited to the imputation of liability. The two cases cited by Appellants in support thereof are a minority position and do not present a logical and reasonable path for this Court to follow. It has generally been held that such imputation statutes impute contributory negligence as well as liability. This has been the rule in California stated in *Solloway vs. Watts*, 137 P.2d 477 (Calif. 1943) and *Birnbaum vs. Blunt*, 313 P.2d 87 (Calif. 1957). In the *Solloway* case, the Court held as follows on page 478:

"The imputation of negligence to a parent is not limited to actions of third persons against the parent but it extends to actions in which the parent seeks redress and damages. The imputation

extends to all cases where the rights and obligations of parents are invoked in civil actions for damages. . . .”

A similar result was reached in the following cases: *Secured Finance Company vs. Chicago, Rock Island, and Pacific Railway Co.*, 224 NW 88 (Iowa 1929); *National Trucking and Storage Company vs. Driscoll*, 64 A.2d 304, (D.C. 1949); *Baber vs. Akers Motor Lines*, 215 F.2d 843, (App. D.C.); *DiLeo vs. DuMontier*, 195 So. 74, (La. App. 1904); *Fontenot vs. Pan American Fire and Casualty Co.*, 209 So.2d 105, (La.); and *Schiebe vs. Lincoln*, 471 NW 74 (Wis. 1937).

It would be a non-sequitur in the law for a person to be given a statutory responsibility for the negligence of a minor but on the other hand allowed to benefit against third parties notwithstanding the negligence of said minor for whom the owner is responsible. Such a result would be contrary to the obvious purpose and intent of the statute and the Legislature that formulated the same.

The Appellants likewise seek a strained reading of the imputation statute by suggesting that the word “minor” does not apply to Phyllis Utahna Perkins because she was married at the time of the accident. The Supreme Court of Utah, however, in *Rogers vs. Wagstaff*, 120 Utah 136, 232 P.2d 766, (1951) held that under U.C.A. 41-2-10 the words “minor under the age of eighteen” meant exactly that, a person who was under the age of eighteen years and marriage as far as the imputation statute was concerned had no effect on such a person’s minority status.

Respondent submits that U.C.A. 41-2-22 applies in the present case to impute the negligence of Phyllis Utahna Perkins to the Appellants.

CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully submits that the Trial Court properly found as a matter of law negligence on the part of Phyllis Utahna Perkins and that under the laws of the State of Utah such negligence is imputed to the Appellants and bars their recovery for damages to their vehicle driven by said minor.